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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ALYSSA BURNTHORNE-M ARTINEZ ,
Case No. 16-cv-02843-YGR

Plaintiff,
V. ORDER REGARDING DEFENDANT’SMOTION
FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS
SEPHORA USA, INC.,
Re: Dkt. No. 21

Defendant.

Plaintiff Alyssa Burnthorne-Martinez bringsis putative class &on against defendant
Sephora for alleged violations of certain credgorting act disclosuneiles. (Dkt. No. 1-1,
“Compl.”) Specifically, plaintiff brings causes attion for violations of the following: (i) Count
One, Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”"), 15 8.C. section 1681b(b)(2)(A); (ii) Count Two,
FCRA, 15 U.S.C. section 1681g(c); (iii) Count Three, Investigative Consumer Reporting Age
Act (“ICRAA"), California Civil Code sections 178ét seq.and (iv) Count Four, Consumer
Credit Reporting Agencies Act (“CCRAA L alifornia Civil Code sections 17&% seq.

Now before the Court is defendant’s motion judgment on the pleadings pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c) on Cau@ine, Three, and Four. Having carefully
considered the pleadings, the papers andoéglsubmitted on the motion, and oral arguments
held on November 14, 2016, and for the reasons set forth more fully below, th®&oad
defendant’s motion for judgmeannh the pleadings as to all counts. However, the Court also
exercises its authority DISMISS WITHOUT PREJUDICE plaintiff's negligence claims in Count

One and plaintiff's claims in Count Fotr.

1 In connection with its motion, defendant aféed a request foridicial notice (‘DRJIN”)
of the following exhibits: (i) Exhibit A, Copy dhe Web-Based Disclosure provided to plaintiff
referenced in the complaint; (ii) Exhibit B gohtiff's single-plaintiffemployment discrimination
case filed in state coudpcket number 16-CGC-550774 (Cal. Sup. Ct. filed Mar. 3, 2016); and
(i) Exhibit C, plaintiff's putatve wage-and-hour class actiomgalaint filed in state court,
docket number 16-CGC-550894 (Cal. Sup. Ct. filed.M8, 2016). (Dkt. No. 22.) Defendant
argues that Exhibit A is noticbke as a document incorporatey reference in plaintiff's
complaint. See Daniels-Hall v. Nat'l Educ. Ass'®29 F.3d 992, 998 (9th Cir. 2010) (holding tha
a complaint incorporated an electronic document when it “directly quoted the material posted
... web pages”Xnievel v. ESPN393 F.3d 1068, 1076 (9th Cir. 2005) (“The rationale of the
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l. SUMMARY OF FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS AND JUDICIALLY NOTICEABLE FACTS

Plaintiff was employed by defendant in Catifia from approximately September 2014 to
May 2015. (Compl. § 5.) Plaintiff's claims stéram her allegations that defendant “routinely
acquire[s] consumer, investigative consumet/anconsumer credit reports (referred to
collectively as “crediaind background reports”) to condbetckground checks on [p]laintiff and
other prospective, current and former employa®s use information from credit and backgroung
reports in connection with their hiring proceashout providing proper diclosures and obtaining
proper authorization in compliance with the lawld. ( 2.) The following dcts relate to such
claims:

Plaintiff alleges that when she applied forgoyment, defendant “cpiired her to fill out
and sign a Document entitled ‘Employment Apgtion,”” which included an authorization to
obtain her credit and background reports (the “Authorizatiort). (37.) In pertinent part, the

Authorization provides:

| certify that the facts set forth in this application for employment are true and
complete. | understand that false stateisien omissions on this application will
result in a refusal to hire or, if disoened after | am hired, in disciplinary action
up to and including the termination of maynployment. | hereby grant permission
to any person, firm or corporation tdease to Sephora ositepresentatives any
and all information regarding my pasork or employment and my background.

| waive any and all claims | might haweth respect to the providing of such
information.

In connection with my gplication for employmentincluding contract for

service) with Sephora USA, Inc. (“the @pany”), | understand that investigative
inquiries may be obtained on me byansumer reporting agency, and that any
such report will be used solely for playment-related purposes. | understand
that the nature and scopetbis investigation will include a number of sources
including, but not limited to, consumerediit, criminal convictions, sex offender
registries and public databases, motor elehiand other reports. These reports
will include information as to my character, general reputation, personal

‘incorporation by referencealoctrine applies with equal force tdemet pages as it does to printe
material.”). With respect to Exhibits B and d&fendant argues that the Court may notice each
“matters of public record.’Lee v. Los Angele&50 F.3d 668, 689 (9th CR001). Plaintiff also
filed a request for judicial nate (“PRJN”) of the following exhiks, presumably also as matters
of public record: (i) Exhibit 1, Federal Tm€ommission (“FTC”) Advisy Opinion Letter to
Hauxwell, dated June 12, 1998; and (ii) ExhihiETC Advisory Opiron Letter to Leathers,
dated September 9, 1998. (Dkt. No. 23-1.) Neitlaety opposes the othersquest for judicial
notice. Accordingly, the Cou@RANTS both requests.
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characteristics, mode of living, and wdribits. Information relating to my
performance and experience, along with reasons for termination of past
employment from previous employemsay also be obtained. Further, |
understand that the Company will bguesting information from various
Federal, State, County, and other agenitiasmaintain records concerning my
past activities relating to mydriving, credit, criminalgivil, education, and other
experiences.

| understand that if the @gpany hires me, it may request a consumer report or an
investigative consumer report about faeemployment-related purposes during
the course of my employment. | undemstahat the scope of this investigation
will be the same as the scope of a pn@sloyment investigation, and that the
nature of such an investigation will by continuing suitability for employment,
or whether I possess the minimum guedifions necessary for promotion or
transfer to another positi. | understand that my caarg will apply throughout
my employment, unless | revoke or camogl consent by sending a signed letter
or statement to the Company at any tistafing that | revoke my consent and no
longer allow the Company to obtain con®rmor investigative consumer reports
about me. This signed Disclosure armh€ent form, whether in original, faxed,
photocopied or electronic form, will balid for any reports that may be
requested by the Company.

(1d. 7 38.%

Plaintiff alleges that such sttlosures violate the disclosuasvs because, even if the
language were sufficient, they include “extranéanfrmation within the same document, which
plaintiff argues is contrary tine dictates of the law.Id; 11 40-42.) Plaintiff highlights two
opinion letters from the Federetade Commission (“FTC”), whitwarned against embedding thg
requisite credit reporting disclass with other material. Specifically, the letters stated the

following:

The disclosure may not be part of@mployment application because the
language [of 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1681b(b)(2)(A) islended to ensure that it appears
conspicuously in a document not encumbered by any other information. The
reason for requiring that the disclosurema stand-alone document is to prevent
consumers from being distracted by otimdormation side-by-side within the
disclosure. I¢. 1 41.)

2 Defendant indicates thtte quoted language misleadinggpresents the actual form
that plaintiff filled out online. As shown IRJN Exhibit A, the first paragraph of the quoted
language is in a section entitled “Certificatiomdd®elease” whereas the remaining paragraphs g
contained in another section marked offeblyeading entitled “Background Release Form
Disclosure & Consent.” (Dkt. No. 22-1, RIN Ex) APlaintiff does not dispute the accuracy of
this exhibit.
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[W]e note that your draft disclosure indes a waiver by the consumer of his or
her rights under the FCRA. The incluswinsuch a waiver in a disclosure form
will violate Section 604(b)(2)(A) of the®RA, which requires that a disclosure
consist ‘solely’ of the disclosure thatconsumer report may be obtained for
employment purposesld( { 42.)

On these bases, plaintiff alleggthat defendant is liable undeowt One for violations of the
FCRA, 15 U.S.C. section 1681b(b)(2)(A), and Codriieee and Four for violations of analogous
state laws.

Il. LEGAL STANDARD

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12{apdgment on the pleadings may be granted
when, accepting as true all material allegatiomstained in the nonmoving party’s pleadings, the
moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of I@kavez v. United State883 F.3d 1102,
1108 (9th Cir. 2012). The applicable standardsseatially identical to #nstandard for a motion
to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6lnited States ex rel. Cafasso v. Gen. Dynamics C4 Sys.63Tc.
F.3d 1047, 1054 n.4 (9th Cir. 2011). Thus, althoughGburt must accept well-pleaded facts as
true, it is not required to accept mere conalystlegations or conclusions of ladee Ashcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678—79 (2009).

In ruling on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the Court may consider documents
incorporated by reference in the pleadingd &nay properly look beyond the complaint to
matters of public record” thatre judicially noticeableMack v. S. Bay Beer Distrib., In@.98
F.2d 1279, 1282 (9th Cir. 198@&hbrogated on other grounds by Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’ij
v. Soliming 501 U.S. 104 (1991Rurning v. First Boston Corp815 F.2d 1265, 1267 (9th Cir.
1987). The Court “need not . . . accept as trugatiens that contradict matters properly subject
to judicial notice or by exhibitattached to the complaingprewell v. Golden State Warrioi266
F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001) (citation omitted)outs may also dismiss a cause of action in

place of granting judgment, and may grimaive to amend where appropriatee, e.glIn re

® Defendant does not here move for judgn@mthe pleadings as to Count Two, in which
plaintiff alleges defendant vialed 15 U.S.C. sections 1681d(a)(1) and 1681g(c) for failure to
provide proper summaries of plaintiff's rights. The Court doedurtiter address the allegations
relating to the same.
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Dynamic Random Access Memory (Dram) Antitrust Li8@6 F. Supp. 2d 1072, 1084 (N.D. Cal.
2007).

II. DISCUSSION

A. COUNT ONE: FAILURE TO MAKE PROPER FCRA DISCLOSURES, 15U.S.C.
§816818(B)(2)(A)

To establish a private aoti under the FCRA, a plaintifiiust demonstrate that the
violation of the FCRA was either willful or negligerbeel5 U.S.C. 88 1681n (establishing civil
liability for willful noncompliance), 16810 (establishing civil liability for negligent
noncompliance). Defendant contends that mstier of law, plainff cannot sustain a claim
either for a willful or negligentiolation of the FCRAwith respect to thallegations in Count
One. The Court addresses each, in turn.

1. Willful Violation of the FCRA

A “willful” violation of the FCRA is analged under an “objective standard: action
entailing an ‘unjustifiably high sk of harm that is either knowar so obvious that it should be
known.” Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. BuB51 U.S. 47, 68 (2007) (citation omitted). “[A]
company subject to [the] FCRA doaot act in reckless disregarditofinless the aatin is not only
a violation under a reasonable regdof the statute’s terms, but@vs that the company ran a risk
of violating the law substantiallyreater than the risk associated with a reading that was merel\
careless.”ld. at 69. The Supreme Court held tivditere the action was not “objectively
unreasonable,” no liability for a willful violation under the FCRA can attddh.see also Banga
v. First USA, N.A.29 F. Supp. 3d 1270, 1278 (N.D. Cal. 2014 d“‘company’s interpretation of
the statutory text is nobbjectively unreasonable,’ the interpriéda ‘falls well shot of raising the
‘unjustifiably high risk’ of violding the statute necessary for residdiability.”). In determining
whether an action was “objectively unreasonable,” tsashiould look to: (iJ)he statutory text; (ii)
guidance from the courts of appeals; o) &uthoritative guidance from the FTQd. at 70.

Here, the particular provision of 15 UCS.section 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i), which plaintiff

complains defendantefiated, provides:

Except [for certain exceptions], a person may not procure a consumer report, or
cause a consumer report to be procui@demployment purposes with respect to
any consumer, unless (i) a clear and pangus disclosure has been made in

5
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writing to the consumer at any time beftie report is procured or caused to be
procured in a document that consists lsobé the disclosure, that a consumer
report may be obtained for employment purposes’. . . .

Plaintiff contends that the disdore form violates the FCRA’sgairement that the document in
which the disclosure appears cohsselely of the disclosure.’'Specifically, plaintiff argues that
the web-page is a single document containirtgonty the requisite disclosure but also the
“Certification and Relea&s section, in violation of the stae. (Compl. T 38; RIN Ex. A.)

Defendant argues that the statig ambiguous as to two spéciferms, especially as it
relates to web-based applicatior(§: consisting “solely of the dclosure” and (ii) “document.”
15 U.S.C. 8§ 1681(b)(2)(A)(i). Thus, because afhsambiguities, defendant argues its decision t
include all of the information on a single lxpage could not have been “objectively
unreasonable” under the FCRA.

With regards to the construati of consisting “solely of thdisclosure,” defendant cites
Syed v. M-I LLCNo. 14-CV-742-WBS, 2014 WL 5426862 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 23, 2014) for the
proposition that the term “solely” is “mofiexible than at first it may appearld. at *3. On this
basis, defendant argues that the “less-thalugdl language should weigh in favor of finding

that, even if the Court were to construe théipage as a single document, it was not objectively

* Plaintiff also alleges that the disclosuvesiated the “in writhg” requirement of the
FCRA because they fail to meet the requireméartan electronic writing pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
section 7001, the E-Sign Act. Defiant argues that at leasteorourt has found that the E-Sign
Act does not create a private cause of acger,Levy-Tatum v. Navient & Sallie Mae Baxé&.
15-3894-JD, 2016 WL 75231, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Jar204,6), and, in any event, the E-Sign Act
writing requirements do not apply poe-employment FCRA disclosuregel5 U.S.C. § 7006
(defining “consumer” in the coext of the E-Sign Act as “andividual who obtains, through a
transaction, products or serviaghich are used primarily for personal, family, or household
purposes, and also means the legal reptasive of such an individual’Miller v. Quest
Diagnostics 85 F. Supp. 3d 1058, 1063 (W.D. Mo. 2015) (concluding section 7001 “consume
disclosure” requirements do not appb FCRA disclosures to prpsctive employees). Plaintiff
offers no authority to the contsa Moreover, the FCRA'’s defition of consumer is different
from the definition in the E-Sign Act. IngélFCRA, a consumer is simply defined as an
“individual” and a “consumer report” defined ‘asy written oral, or other communication of any
information by a consumer reporting agency lepon a consumer’s credit worthiness, credit
standing, credit capacity, charactgeneral reputation, personal chaeaistics, or mode of living,
which is used or expected to be used or colleictechole or in part for the purpose of serving as
factor in establishing the consumer’s eligibility for” credit or insurance, employment, or other
statutorily authorized uses. 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(¢), {the Court thus finddhat such allegations
are insufficient to support a claifor a violation of the FCRA.

6
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unreasonable to include the “Cad#tion and Release” sectioid. Additionally, defendant
contends that there are no court of appeatswms or authoritative FTC guidance construing
such languagg@. Plaintiff, on the other hand, argues that statute itself is cleaat least in this
circumstance: a document that includes not only the disclosure butcagdieation and release
unrelated to the requisite disslaes clearly violates the requirement that the document consist
“solely of the disclosure.’'See Harris v. Home Depot U.S.A., Intl4 F. Supp. 3d 868, 870 (N.D.
Cal. 2015) (denying motion to dismiss where docoinrgcluded a release bébility because the
“release of liability is separate and distinct fréme authorization” and that such violation was

plausibly willful given the state ghe law regarding this topic).

The Court agrees that, if teeeb-page is construed as a single document, it would violate

the express terms of the statute that the document solely consist of the requisite disclosures
Where courts have found otherwise, the exoars language was “so closely related [to the
disclosures] that it was inhergnimplausible anyone would ingtle it in a willul attempt to
violate the statute (or with reckless disrebgor the requirements of the statute)ldt). (citing
Peikoff v. Paramount Pictures CorNo. 15-CV-00068-VC, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 63642, at
*3—4 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 26, 2015)). Thus, the imguurns on whether gnweb-page containing
both sections constitutes a single “document.”

With regards to the definition of what constitutes a single “document,” defendant cites
cases in which other district courts have asgsied FCRA disclosures the context of web-based
applications.See, e.gGoldberg v. Uber TechaNo. 14-CV-14264-RGS015 WL 1530875, at
*2 (D. Mass. Apr. 6, 2015) (finding action nabjectively unreasonable where plaintiff was

required to scroll through text to view thescosure because the “document was (conspicuously

® Defendant acknowledges piéff's allegations regardinthe two FTC opinion letters

she claims support her interpretation of the statbiefendant argues that such are not controlling

for the purposes of a willfulness analysise Syed2014 WL 5426862, at *3 (concluding that
FTC informal letters were not controllingrfthe purpose of a willfulness analysis), and
additionally, the FTC has takeordlicting positions elsewhereseeTC Opinion Letter to
Coffrey, 1998 WL 34323748 (FTC Feb. 11, 1998) (“[8madditional information, such as a
brief description of the nature tfe consumer reports coveredthg disclosure, may be included
if the information does not confuse the consuaratetract from the mandated disclosure.”); FTQ
Opinion Letter to Willner, 1999 WL 33932153, at *2 (FTC Mar. 25, 1999).

7
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entitled ‘Background Check Terms’ atige “visible (three) lines aext informed the reader of
the full scope of the background checks that would be conduchégiijton v. Bank of ApiNo.
14-CV-3714-CBM, 2015 WL 10435907, at *5—6 (C@al. May 2015) (finding disclosures
compliant where the separate documents were on different screens of the online application
process).

Neither of the cases defendant offers igcllly analogous to the situation here where the
two sections appear on the exacheaveb page. However, plaiftalso offers no authority, even
in the form of an FTC letter opinion, construingavi “single document” is for the purposes of
web-based applications. The pléanguage of the statute requireseparate and distinct writing.
By analogy, the web page would also need to beraepand distinct. Heréhe web page at issue
has a single “submit” button indicag that such page is intendedo® considered holistically.
Yet, it contains two sections, including the one regflito be in a “singldocument.” Against this
backdrop, the Court is not prepared to grant juddroa the pleadings invVar of defendant as to
this count. Accordingly, the CouDENIES defendant’s motion with regards to plaintiff's
willfulness claim in Count One.

2. Negligent Violation of the FCRA

With regards to the negligence claim, defant argues only that its motion for judgment
on the pleadings should be granted becausetifiidaled to allege actual damages. Under 15
U.S.C. section 16810, a plaintiff may only recotamtual damages” for mgigent violations.See
Banga v. Chevron U.S.ANo. 11-CV-01498-JCS, 2013 WI1772, at *11 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 7,
2013) (“[l]f a plaintiff can only prove negligent violation of thECRA, the plaintiff must also
show actual damages caused by the conduct consgitviolation of the atute to make out a
cause of action.”). Plaintiff counters that k@flation of privacy and the emotional distress
caused by such can give riseatalaim for actual damageSee Fairfield v. Am. Photocopy Equip
Co, 138 Cal. App. 2d 82, 85-87 (1958uimond v. Trans Union Credit Info. Cd5 F.3d 1329,
1333 (9th Cir. 1995). Plaintiff's only allegatiotsthat effect, hoever, are general and
conclusory. $eeCompl. § 51.) Such are insufficient to sustain a cleés®e Burnell v. Marin

Humane Soc’yNo. 14-CV-5635-JSC, 2015 WL 6746888,19 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 5, 2015)
8
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(dismissing intentional infliction of emotionalsdiess claim where complaint lacked “any facts
pertaining to the nature aedtent of plaintiffs’ emotnal or mental suffering”)Connelly v.
RemkesNo. 14-CV-1344-LHK, 2014L 5473144, at *13 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 28, 2014) (finding
single paragraph alleging plaiih “suffered great worry andancern” to be inadequatelrisafulli

v. Amertias Life Ins. CorpNo. 13-CV-5937, 2015 WL 1969176, at *4 (D.N.J. Apr. 30, 2015)
(dismissing FCRA claim for negligent violati on a Rule 12 motion because plaintiff's
threadbare allegations of emotional distress didsaffice). As with the cases referenced above
plaintiff's allegations are baldha conclusory. That said, defendaas failed to provide authority
that such damages are not available, as a nudittaw, if properly allged. Accordingly, rather
than grant judgment in favor defendant as to plaintiff's negkgce claim in Count One at this

juncture, the Court insted2isMISSES the same without prejudice.
B. COUNTS THREE AND FOUR: PREEMPTION OF STATE LAwW CLAIMS

Both ICRAA and CCRAA include provisionsahdefendant argugseclude plaintiff's

claims under either statute. CCRAA provides:nyAconsumer credit reporting agency or user of

information against whom an action brought parguto Section 1681n or 16810 of Title 15 of the
United States Code is pending shall not beesilip suit for the same act or omission under
Section 1785.31.” Cal. Civ. Codg 1785.34(a). Similarly, ICRAA prides: “Any investigative
consumer reporting agency or user of information against whom an action brought pursuant
Section 1681n or 16810 of Title 15 of the United &aTode is pending shall not be subject to
suit for the same act or omission undect®n 1786.50.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1786.52(a).

On these bases, defendant argues thatdbet €hould find plaintf’s state law claims
barred as a matter of lavee Coleman v. Kohl’'s Dep’t Stores, Jido. 15-cv-2588-JCS, 2015
WL 5782352, at *7 n.7 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 5, 2015) (stgtthat to the “extent plaintiffs submit a
second amended complaint that alleges both FEGRAICRAA claims stemming from the same
act or omission, 8§ 1786.52 bdatmse ICRAA claims”)Drew v. Equifax Info. Servs., LL.Glo. 07-
CV-0726-SI, 2009 WL 595459, at *11 (N.D. Cal. M&r.2009) (finding thathe “majority of
plaintiffs CCRAA claims are duptiative of his FCRA claims against [defendants] and thus

barred”). Defendant, however, acknowledges a spétthority in this district as to the meaning

9
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of ICRAA and CCRAA in this regard, and the o@glifornia Court of Appal decision to address
the issue has held otherwise, at least as to CCR2¢® Cisneros v. UD Registry, In89 Cal.

App. 4th 548, 581 (1995) (finding th&CRAA only applies when therg a “prior action pending
under the federal law, and somedming a later actionnder the state law(internal quotations
and citation omitted))Ramirez v. Transunion LL@99 F. Supp. 2d 941, 945 (N.D. Cal. 2012)
(stating that the court is bound Bysnerosabsent “convincing evidence’ the California Supreme
Court would decide otherwise'®uillen v. Bank of Am. CorpNo. 10-CV-5825-EJD, 2011 WL
4071996, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 31, 2011) (stating thatcourt must defer to the “interpretation
of the California Court of Appeal absent caming evidence the Califora Supreme Court would
decide the matter differently”).

The duty of a federal court “in this case is to ascertain and apply the existing Californi

-

law.” Carvalho v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLG629 F.3d 876, 889 (9th Cir. 2010) (quotMgnson
v. Del Taco, InG.522 F.3d 997, 1002 (9th Cir. 2008)). In the absence of pronouncements from
the California Supreme Court, tlB®urt must “follow decisions dhe California Court of Appeal
unless there is convincing ewidce the California Supreme@t would hold otherwise.’ld.

Here, defendant offers only two districtuzbdecisions that ve found contrary t€isneros The
court inDrew did not address the decision@msnerosn any way, and the court {doleman

while recognizing the existence of contramythority, limited sucto the CCRAA and found
otherwise with respect to ICRAA. Howeveryen the identical languagbetween the provisions
in ICRAA and CCRAA, this Court does not find suzldistinction meaningful. Defendant did not
identify any other relevant authority thabwid support a finding from this Court that the
California Supreme Court would impret the statute contrary @isneros Thus, given the current
state of the law, this Court is bound by therptetation of the Califoriai Court of Appeal in
Cisnerosin finding that the provisios at issue bar only subseqtisuits involving state law
claims. Accordingly, the CouBENIES defendant’s request for judgment as to Counts Three and

Four on this ground.
C. COUNT FOUR: ALLEGATIONS OF ACTUAL DAMAGES UNDER CCRAA

Defendant argues that plaintiff's claims puant to the CCRAA should be dismissed for

10
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the additional reason that plaintiff failed to glleactual damages, as required under CCR3é&e
Trujillo v. First Am. Registry, In¢157 Cal. App. 4th 628, 638 (2007) (holding that where a
plaintiff has “suffered no actual deage, [her] CCRAA cause of action fails as a matter of law”)
Levinson v. Transunion LL@o. 16-CV-837-RSW, 2016 WL 3135642, at *6 (C.D. Cal. June 2
2016). Plaintiff raises only the same argumehts raised with respeict her FCRA negligence
claim. For the same reasons discussed abow& dhrt finds that herlalgations as to actual
damages are insufficient to sustai@@RAA claim. Accordingly, the CouRISMISSES WITHOUT
PREJUDICE Count Four of plaintiff's complaint.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the CdDeNIES defendant’s motion for judgment on the
pleadings as to all counts. Further, the COustMISSES WITHOUT PREJUDICE plaintiff's
negligence claims in Count One and plaintiff's claims in Count Four.

By Thursday, December 1, 2016plaintiff shall file a notte advising the Court whether
she intends to file amended allegations or reshercurrent state of the pleadings. If the former
plaintiff shall file byDecember 13, 2016a motion for leave to file a first amended complaint
explaining how she has satisfiee ttrequirements addressed herdirthe latter, defendant shall
answer the complaint lyecember 16, 2016.

The Court herebgeTs a further case management conferencéonday, January 23,
2017at2:00 p.m.in the Federal Building, 1301 Clay StteOakland, California, Courtroom 1.
By January 13, 2017 the parties must file a joint case management statement, in accordance
the Local Rules and this Cour&anding Order in Civil Cases.

This Order terminates Docket Number 21.

Lypone Mgptolfbecs

v YVONNE GONZALEZ ROGERS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

T 1SS0 ORDERED.

Dated: November 23, 2016
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